

# The Speed of Adjustment and the Sequencing of Economic Reforms: Issues and Guidelines for Policymakers

Saleh M. Nsouli, Mounir Rached, and Norbert Funke

# **IMF Working Paper**

#### IMF Institute

# The Speed of Adjustment and the Sequencing of Economic Reforms: Issues and Guidelines for Policymakers

Prepared by Saleh M. Nsouli, Mounir Rached, and Norbert Funke<sup>1</sup>

August 2002

#### Abstract

The views expressed in this Working Paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent those of the IMF or IMF policy. Working Papers describe research in progress by the author(s) and are published to elicit comments and to further debate.

This paper reviews the issues involved in determining the appropriate speed of adjustment and the sequencing of economic reforms, focusing on considerations relevant to policymakers. It points out that the debate between the protagonists of a high-speed approach and those favoring a gradualist approach is based primarily on the weights given to adjustment costs, policy credibility, reform feasibility, and risk assessment. It underscores the importance of appropriate sequencing and the impact of sequencing on the speed of adjustment and reforms. The paper concludes by highlighting factors that policymakers should consider when selecting their approach toward speed and sequencing.

JEL Classification Numbers: O1, P00,

Keywords: Adjustment, reforms, speed of adjustment, sequencing

Authors' E-Mail Addresses: snsouli@imf.org, mrached@imf.org, nfunke@imf.org

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> We thank Allan Brunner, Ralph Chami, Ehsan Choudri, Eric Clifton, Xavier Debrun, Samir El-Khouri, Nuri Erbas, Andrew Feltenstein, Roberto Garcia-Saltos, Dalia Hakura, Samir Jahjah, Hugo Juan-Ramón, Françoise Le Gall, Rodney Ramcharan, Sunil Sharma, Ling Hui Tan, Evan Tanner, Paul Wade, Chorng-Huey Wong, and Abdelhadi Yousef for helpful comments on earlier drafts. We are also grateful to Farah Ebrahimi for editorial suggestions.

Contents	Page		
I. Introduction	3		
II. The Speed of Adjustment	5		
A. Adjustment Costs			
B. Credibility			
C. Feasibility			
D. Risks			
E. Other Factors			
III. Sequencing	10		
A. Trade Reform	12		
B. Capital Account Liberalization	15		
C. Financial Markets			
D. Price Liberalization, Market Reform, and Privatization			
IV. Guidelines for Reform	25		
Box 1. Definitions of Speed and Sequencing	4		
Tables			
The Speed of Adjustment: Contradictory Views?	5		
2. Schematic Views of Selected Sequencing Proposals			
Toposition in the second sequences a toposition in the second sequences as the second			
References	29		

## I. Introduction

The ongoing adjustment and reform efforts of developing countries, the transformation in Central and Eastern Europe and other transition countries of the former Soviet Union, and the recent crisis in East Asia have brought to the fore the importance of the speed and appropriate sequencing of adjustment efforts.<sup>2</sup> For policymakers, these issues are critical to their decision making. In fact, over the past several decades, observers of internationally supported adjustment programs have tended to disagree more on the pace and sequence, than on the content, of the reform packages (see, for example, Collier and Gunning, 1999).

Numerous studies have analyzed the factors influencing the speed and sequencing of adjustment (see Box 1 for definitions). Conceptually, the problem is to find the optimal adjustment path that will maximize the intertemporal social welfare function of a country, subject to financial and structural constraints (Nsouli, 1996). However, estimating the social function and quantifying the financial and structural constraints are not simple tasks. An attempt to do so, in purely hypothetical simulations, was undertaken by Feltenstein and Nsouli (2001). In general, the extensive literature on speed and sequencing has been inconclusive and often conflicting in the policy advice it provides. An overview, which takes into account all three aspects of this question—speed considerations, sequencing requirements within each sector, and sequencing requirements relative to other sectors—is largely missing from the literature. This paper seeks to fill this gap and to provide a practical guide for policymakers on speed and sequencing issues.

The paper is divided into four sections. Section II reviews the factors that are at the center of the debate on the speed of adjustment. Section III focuses on the three key questions: What are the sequencing requirements within a sector? What are the major sequencing requirements relative to other sectors? What are the speed implications of sequencing within and across sectors? The last section provides practical guidelines for reform and discusses factors that need to be considered in determining the speed of adjustment and sequencing of reforms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The term adjustment in this paper is generally used to refer both to macroeconomic adjustment and economic reforms.

# Box 1. Definitions of Speed and Sequencing

The debate on the speed of adjustment and sequencing of reforms is often carried out in a vacuum. Articles typically do not fully define the concepts; hence, their analyses are not always comparable. The definitions used in this paper are as follows.

## Speed

The speed of adjustment can be defined as the time elapsed between the move from an initial set of macroeconomic variables to a targeted set of such variables. If in period zero, for example, the rate of inflation is at  $X_0$  percent, and it takes t time periods to reach a targeted rate of inflation set at  $X_t$ , then the speed of adjustment refers to the number of periods to go from  $X_0$  to  $X_t$ . The relations, however, could be more complex, involving preset targets for growth, inflation, and the external sector accounts, as well as intermediate targets, such as the budget balance and the rate of credit expansion.

The speed of adjustment also refers to the time elapsed in moving from one organizational economic structure to another. For example, in a broad sense, the speed of adjustment refers to the time involved in moving from a centrally planned to a market-oriented economy. In a narrower sense, it refers to the time involved in reducing price controls, changing the tariff structure, privatizing public enterprises, introducing financial sector reforms, and establishing the relevant institutions.

Thus, the speed of adjustment refers to the total time required to move from one set of macroeconomic variables to another and to introduce economic reforms and make them operational.

# Sequencing

The sequencing of reforms refers to the order in which either macroeconomic policy actions or specific reforms are introduced. Sequencing involves the order in which reforms are undertaken across sectors (for example, whether fiscal adjustment or stabilization should be a prerequisite for introducing current account liberalization or decontrolling prices) and the order in which reforms are undertaken within sectors (for example, whether in the case of capital account liberalization, foreign direct investment or short-term capital flows should be liberalized first).

The sequencing across sectors and within sectors, to the extent that it requires time, will necessarily impact on the speed of adjustment.

## II. THE SPEED OF ADJUSTMENT

A fairly clear-cut argument divides the proponents of a high speed of adjustment—what is often referred to as the shock, big bang, or cold-turkey approach—and those supporting a gradual approach. The debate centers on four major issues: the costs of adjustment, the credibility of the reform program, the feasibility of the approach, and the risks associated with the strategy. Table 1 summarizes the opposing views, focusing on broad considerations. This section reviews the arguments of the two camps.

Table 1. The Speed of Adjustment: Contradictory Views?<sup>1</sup>

Categories	Shock Approach	Gradual Approach			
Adjustment Costs	Rapid reforms lead to lower adjustment costs, because rapid reforms increase incentives to relocate resources (Mussa, 1984).	Gradualism can minimize adjustment costs, because it generates lower short- term costs and thus less political opposition (Little, Scitovsky, and Scott, 1970).			
Credibility	Credibility can be better established through full-scale reforms (Hiemenz, Nunnenkamp, and others, 1992).	Gradualism could enhance credibility if the short-term results are sufficiently favorable (Rodrik, 1987 and 1989).			
Feasibility	It is almost impossible to design a detailed sequence of reforms; therefore, reforms should	It simply takes time to implement reforms (Fischer and Gelb, 1991).			
	move ahead as quickly as possible (Funke, 1993).	Gradualism is dictated by the competition of instruments (McKinnon, 1973).			
Risks of the other approach	Partial reforms undermine the efficient allocation of resources, resulting in reduced output and welfare (Murphy and others, 1992).	In the case of a shock approach, short -run increases in unemployment may weaken political support and force the authorities to			
	Partial reforms may fail to lead to the creation of real markets (Lipton and Sachs, 1990).	abandon reform efforts (Agénor and Montiel, 1999).			
	,	Broad reforms may increase the risk of contagion (Rodrik, 1989).			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> To highlight different views, this table focuses on the main arguments rather than on the underlying details. The citations often refer to earlier papers, as subsequent papers of the same author usually contained similar views. The author to whom the argument is attributed is not necessarily a proponent of one or the other approach.

## A. Adjustment Costs

Under circumstances where product and factor prices adjust immediately and resources can be reallocated without cost, the optimal policy is clear, namely the simultaneous removal of all distortions. In the real world, however, resources cannot be reallocated simultaneously without incurring costs among different sectors of the economy. Moreover, different markets adjust to policy changes and price signals at different speeds.

Proponents of both the shock and the gradual approach base their arguments on lower adjustment costs. Supporters of shock therapy argue that rapid reforms increase the incentives to reallocate resources, resulting in lower adjustment costs. In the presence of rational expectations and the absence of distortions, speedy reforms lead to a more socially desirable adjustment path for the economy (Mussa, 1984). When distortions are widespread, rapid adjustment can lead to income and wealth losses for those affected by the reformed industry. Those losses, however, would be acceptable if the marginal social costs of the losers were less than the marginal social benefits derived from the productivity gains of moving resources out of protected industries.

Proponents of gradualism note that labor and capital are sector specific and thus not readily transferable between sectors. Thus, rapid reforms can result in larger temporary contraction of economic activity than if a gradual approach had been followed. Earlier studies along these lines mostly focused on trade reforms. Little, Scitovsky, and Scott (1970), in their pioneering work on sequencing, argued that fast reforms generate higher short-term costs in terms of unemployment and income distribution effects, engendering stiffer political opposition than a gradual approach.<sup>3</sup> In contrast, a gradual approach would produce less severe losses of rent (or gain) by owners of factors of production during a particular phase of reform (Mehlum, 2001). Part of the gains obtained by the initial reforms can be transferred to the losers of subsequent reforms (Lian and Wei, 1998). According to this view, a gradual, multistage reform is superior to a one step removal of all controls. Dewatripont and Roland (1992, 1994) argue that gradualism may be preferable to the bigbang approach when the budgetary cost of reform (for example, the cost of maintaining the income level of workers laid off from inefficient state enterprises undergoing reform) is an important policy variable.

The above discussion shows that a major concern in the use of shock therapy is the potential higher rate of unemployment that can result during the transition to the new equilibrium (Ahluwalia, 1996; Agénor and Montiel, 1999). The shock approach is more likely to lead to reduced production and significantly higher unemployment if rigidities in labor and product markets are high. In general, adjustment costs are expected to be lower when labor markets are less rigid, capital and labor are less specific, and entrepreneurs are more flexible and adaptable. Supporters of the shock approach recognize the limitations of executing reforms quickly and concede that certain aspects of reform may take several years to implement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For political economy considerations, see Lora (1998), Martinelli and Tommasi (1997), and Shleifer and Treismann (2000).

## B. Credibility

The credibility of government policy and the reform process is essential for the success of the reforms and the control of adjustment costs (Bhattacharya, 1997; and Cukierman and Tommasi, 1998). Credibility prevails when private expectations about future policies do not deviate from the authorities' explicit or implicit announcements. Credibility is an important determinant of the magnitude of the adjustment costs. If reforms are credible, private agents will align their behavior with the announced policies. The more credible the reforms, the faster will the reallocation of resources be, all other things being equal. By contrast, if announced policies and reforms are not credible, agents will be reluctant to respond to the announcement and the adjustment process will take longer or may even fail. The importance of credibility increases in a highly distorted economy. In such an environment, intertemporal speculation can derail efforts to gradually undertake reforms when these reforms are perceived to be uncertain or reversible (Van Wijnbergen, 1991).

Credibility of a reform package can cut both ways. Broad-based reforms can enhance the credibility of reforms in developing countries if the public views them as a clear signal by the authorities to break with past traditions (Hiemenz and others, 1992; and Funke, 1993). Rapid and broad reforms can also have a greater probability of success if they help to overcome more easily the resistance of vested interest groups. Partial reforms, on the other hand, may not only raise credibility questions, but may also fail if the government lacks credibility initially.

By contrast, proponents of a gradual approach argue that gradualism can enhance credibility if the results achieved in the short term are sufficiently favorable (Rodrik, 1989). Successful initial reforms can enhance the authorities' reputation and facilitate the implementation of subsequent reforms. In some cases, such as in current and capital account liberalization, several reforms may have to be tackled simultaneously without necessarily liberalizing the accounts completely in one go. In such an environment, a gradualist approach can also enhance credibility (Johnston, 1994).

### C. Feasibility

The feasibility of the reform approach is also crucial to the debate. On the one hand, it can be argued that it is almost impossible to design a detailed sequence of reforms (Funke, 1993). Therefore, in periods of distress, the best approach may be to implement broad-based reforms as quickly as possible. On the other hand, proponents of a gradual approach stress that it simply takes time to implement reforms (Fischer and Gelb, 1991). Both the scope of the reforms and the country's administrative capacity dictate a phased rather than a simultaneous approach to reforms.

Furthermore, the government's ability to manage the reform process is vital (World Bank, 2002). It may take time to obtain the relevant information about the likely reform outcomes and associated probabilities (Erbas, 2002). Thus in spite of strong theoretical support for rapid and comprehensive reforms, many economists and policymakers believe

that gradualism is the inevitable approach (Gelb and Fischer, 1991). The fundamental reason for gradualism (and thus sequencing) in reform emanates from the prerequisite nature of some policy actions.

Gradualism is also dictated by the "competition of instruments." McKinnon (1973), in particular, argues that different reform elements require different instruments, some of which may conflict with each other. For example, a simultaneous implementation of trade and capital account liberalization may conflict with exchange rate policy. Trade reform may need to be supported by a depreciation of the real exchange rate whereas capital account liberalization, which may lead to capital inflows, can result in a real appreciation of the exchange rate. Feasibility considerations suggest that reforms must be introduced sequentially in light of the possible competition of instruments. Thus, groups of reforms involving complementary rather than competing policies must be identified and implemented sequentially.

#### D. Risks

The risks associated with each adjustment and reform strategy are also important. As already noted, the concern with shock therapy is that it can lead to lower production and higher unemployment. By contrast, the gradual approach can fail because of the longer time frame needed to bring about significant change. Limited information and general uncertainty about possible reform outcomes add to the challenges the authorities face.

If the shock approach does entail significant short-run increases in unemployment, political support for reforms may waver, eventually prompting the authorities to abandon their efforts (Agénor and Montiel, 1999). Moreover, when reforms are far reaching, the interrelations between the various elements may pose policy conflicts. For example, if a set of reforms does not succeed in one reform area, the public may become skeptical of the outcome of other reforms, reducing the effectiveness and likely sustainability of the reform effort.

On the other hand, partial reforms may fail to significantly reduce distortions and hence not deliver gains to the private sector quickly enough. Partial reforms that undermine the efficient reallocation of resources from controlled to liberated industries not only reduce output and welfare, but also fail to promote competitive markets (Lipton and Sachs, 1990; and Murphy and others 1992). The experience of some East European countries has shown the shortcomings of piecemeal approaches.

#### E. Other Factors

In addition to the speed of adjustment and reform, several other factors may have an important bearing on the final outcome:

• Reform area: the sector matters, because the speed of adjustment differs between the real sector and the financial sector (Mussa, 1984).

- Initial situation: initial conditions are decisive in determining the speed of reform (Bruno, 1992).
- Cost of failure: the higher the cost of failure, the larger are the incentives for rapid adjustment (Dornbusch, 1991).
- Affordability: countries that can no longer afford the negative implications of existing distortions, need more rapid approaches to reform (Johnston, 1994).

The overall speed of adjustment is affected by the pace of reform in different sectors. Whereas financial stabilization policies can generally be implemented relatively rapidly, the response of the production structure, investment, and ownership patterns to economic reforms tends to be much slower. Furthermore, reforms in such areas as privatization, tax, and trade require considerable preparatory work and time to implement.

The initial conditions are also critical in determining the appropriate speed of reform. It is argued that in a crisis situation, rapid adjustment is preferable. Difficult initial situations require fast and broad-based action. When the economy is deteriorating quickly, agents tend to revise their expectations more rapidly. Rigidities in the economy may weaken, allowing for more drastic action to bring about rapid change. In high-inflation countries undergoing stabilization, a big-bang approach is recommended to break the inflationary expectations (Bruno, 1992), or, in the case of financial crises, to restore confidence.

The higher the cost of failure, the greater is the incentive for rapid adjustment. In a two-period model, Dornbusch (1991) derives the following conclusions: the higher the cost of failure, the greater the adjustment effort and the probability of success; the higher the marginal cost of adjustment, the lower the effort and the probability of success; the higher the financing requirements, the higher the probability of program failure; and the higher the reserves or the ability to borrow, the lower the probability of program failure. Based on this analysis, failure of governments to reform in the first period implies that they must pursue the next phase of reforms with new adjustment costs and worse initial conditions. This two-period analysis highlights the incentive to front load the adjustment effort—policymakers have a strong incentive to perform well up front in order to forestall future higher adjustment costs and a lower probability of success.

The speed of reform may also be linked to affordability. Countries with low saving rates—such as in some Latin American countries—were inclined to speed up the implementation of reforms of the financial sector, whereas typically more gradualist approaches were followed in countries with high saving rates, such as Japan and Korea (Johnston, 1994). Efficient financial systems were less critical to the mobilization of savings in the latter group, which could afford to move gradually, while the former group had to move quickly to enhance intermediation.

## III. SEQUENCING

The debate on sequencing initially surfaced in the late 1970s and early 1980s with the reform experience of Latin American countries. The predominance of reform failure generated an intense debate among policymakers and academics to determine whether the failures were due to the policy prescription or the sequencing of reforms. This debate was reinvigorated in view of the experience with the reform efforts of the transition economies. Many economists have argued for the appropriate sequencing of reforms without necessarily indulging in the big-bang versus gradualist debate.

Table 2 shows the different views on the sequencing of reforms, distinguishing between proposals for developing countries and transition economies.<sup>5</sup> This distinction is important because different initial conditions require different reform tasks. In developing countries with, say, repressed financial markets, the liberalization of domestic markets stands central. In the case of a planned economy that is moving toward a market economy, reforms include liberalization of price controls, privatization of public enterprises, and relaxation of financial and labor market controls.<sup>6</sup> Obviously, the classification of the various proposals in such a broad framework is limited by overlapping reform categories. Also, more specific recommendations related to one or two reform areas cannot be represented appropriately. Notwithstanding these caveats, the table highlights areas of agreement as well as the main controversies surrounding sequencing issues.

As Table 2 suggests, most researchers agree that fiscal and monetary stabilization and institutional reforms should occur early in the reform process. More controversial are the timing of the other reform areas, in particular, the timing of trade reform, financial sector reform, and capital account liberalization. One drawback of this broad schematic view is that it gives no guidance on specific reform priorities within one sector and it is not helpful in gauging how fast reforms in any one area should take place.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For a review of the transition experience, see Fischer and Sahay (2000) and Havrylyshyn and Nsouli (2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Since the early 1990s, the sequencing debate has shifted from an analysis of sequencing issues across sectors to a more in-depth analysis of sequencing issues within sectors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In theory, there may be a third concept—that is, the idea of a market economy operating inside the production possibility frontier because of policy-induced distortions.

Table 2. Schematic Views of Selected Sequencing Proposals

	Institutional Reform <sup>1</sup>	Domestic Price Liberalization	Fiscal/ Monetary Stabilization	Domestic Financial System	Privatization	Trade Reform	Capital Flow Liberalization
Developing Countries				, -			
Corden (1987)			1			1/2	2/3
Edwards (1984, 1990)			1	2		3	4
Fiel (1990)			1	1		2	3
Frenkel (1982)				_		1	2
Krueger (1981/84)			1	1		1/2	2/3
McKinnon (1982)			1	2		3	4
Lal (1987)			1	1		3	2
Schweickert (1993)			1	2		1	3
Economics in Transition Buch (1992)				1		1	1/2
Dornbusch (1991)	1	4	2	5	3	4	3/4/5
Fischer/Gelb (1991)	1	2	1	4	1/3	2	5
Gelb/Gray (1991)	1	1	1	3	1/3	1	3
Hinds (1991)	1	2	1	3	1/4	2	3
Lipton/Sachs (1990)	1	1/2	1	_	3	1/2	
McKinnon (1991)		3	1	2		3	4
Nuti (1991)	1	1	1	_	2	3	4
Roland (1991)	1	3	3	2/4	2	3/4	2/3/4
Rybczynski (1991)	1		3	1	2		_, _,
Siebert (1991)	1	3	2	3	3	3	

Source: Funke (1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Only broadly defined reforms are considered. If they do not match exactly with the analysis in the proposals, the closest category is chosen. Number 1 (5) stands for the reform that should be initiated first (last). The ranking refers mostly to the starting time of reforms so that different reform steps may overlap. More than one ranking indicates that no unequivocal grouping appears possible.

This section focuses on the major reform areas: trade liberalization, capital account liberalization, financial sector reform, and price and market reform. The analysis centers on three questions: What are the sequencing requirements within each sector? What are the major sequencing requirements vis-à-vis other sectors? What are the speed implications of sequencing within each sector and across the relevant sectors?

#### A. Trade Reform

Trade reform has been debated extensively but without full agreement on speed and sequencing. However, there is widespread agreement on the benefits of dismantling trade barriers. Numerous theoretical and empirical studies show that open economies promote more efficient uses of resources, higher income levels, and higher growth (Dollar, 1992; Sachs, Warner, 1995; Sharer, 1998).

The literature strongly favors the removal of quantitative restrictions at the initial stages of reform (Michaely and others 1991), providing several arguments in support of this strategy: the arbitrary nature of many quantitative restrictions creates uncertainty for consumers and producers, prompting both to overstock. The distortions reduce efficiency in domestic production and dampen competition in the domestic market. Quantitative restrictions support the development and maintenance of monopolies, and quotas often result in rent-seeking and corruption in the allocation of rights to imports.

Conversion from quotas to tariffs thus has several advantages. It reduces rent-seeking, and the rents associated with imports are transferred from the importers to the government. This provides additional support to a government attempting to carry out a stabilization program in conjunction with trade reform. In addition, dismantling quantitative restrictions enhances transparency and predictability of the system and reduces hoarding practices. Tariffs are also more direct, thus easier to measure, facilitating the design of a trade reform package and the monitoring of its progress.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Because economists and policy experts broadly agree on the importance of early stabilization and institutional reforms, we include these topics in the discussion of the other reform categories.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> For a more skeptical view of shortcomings in the existing empirical analyses, see Rodriguez and Rodrik (2000). On political economy aspects of trade protection and reform see Krueger (1996) and Lal and Snape (2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Quantitative restrictions can also be practiced through exchange controls.

The two policy reforms have, however, different implications. When quantitative restrictions are binding, removing the restrictions on a good improves welfare. Welfare does not increase when quantitative restrictions are imposed on other goods. This is because imposing quantitative restrictions on other goods does not lead to greater imports of the good that already has quantitative restrictions (because of the binding quota). In contrast, imposing a tariff on a good j when there is already a tariff on a good j can improve welfare because a tariff on j when the two goods are net substitutes leads to greater imports of j than there would have been otherwise. Imposing a tariff on j would improve welfare if it results in a structure of imports that is closer to what would have been had there been no tariffs.

Gradual tariff reform becomes more complex, particularly when the aim is to improve welfare at each step of reform. In general, the following adjustments in tariffs improve welfare: a proportional reduction in all tariffs and a cut in the highest ad valorem tariff if the good under consideration is a net substitute for all other goods (Falvey and Kim, 1992).<sup>10</sup>

In the case of trade restrictions through tariffs and quotas, an equiproportional reduction in all distortions improves welfare. The initial measure could also take the form of converting quotas to tariffs equal to the tariff implicit in the quotas. This measure will not change the volume of imports, but it will have income distributional effects as quota rents are transferred from importers to the government (Falvey and Kim, 1992).

Following a conversion of quantitative restrictions, it would be desirable to attain uniformity and a lower level of tariff protection early in the reform process. This allows for a quick reduction in the cost of protection, including the costs associated with a widely varying pattern of protection. Uniformity in the tax structure is attained by first raising very low tariffs and then lowering tariffs progressively, starting with high tariffs, while leaving the lower rates until later on in the reform process (Papageorgiou and others, 1986; Wolf, 1986). In essence, the objective is to create a neutral trade regime that provides equal incentives for exports and domestic sales.

On sequencing of trade reforms relative to other sector reforms, there is strong support for initiating stabilization before embarking on trade reform (Rodrik, 1992; Sachs, 1987; and Wolf, 1986). As long as high inflation significantly distorts relative prices, trade reform will take place under the wrong market signals. Resources will thus still be directed inefficiently. High and variable inflation rates, for instance, confound relative price changes with movements in the price level generating serious distortions by sending inappropriate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> For an analysis of a proportional convergence of tariffs to a targeted uniform tariff for all items, see Fukushima and Kim, 1989.

signals to the market. Furthermore, inflation associated with a real exchange rate misalignment is likely to put pressure on the external sector.

Trade reform often necessitates large nominal devaluations to restore equilibrium in the exchange market, which in turn can exacerbate inflation when fiscal and monetary policies have been insufficiently tightened. Reforms are more credible and easier to carry out if unemployment, inflation, and external deficits are reduced beforehand. Other arguments supporting initial stabilization focus on the paucity of instruments to implement stabilization and trade reform simultaneously.

The argument for stabilization before trade liberalization is strengthened by the historical evidence provided by the Asian experience. When trade reform is combined with stabilization, adjustment costs can increase significantly, making the cost of the combined package much higher than that of sequential implementation (Falvey and Kim, 1992). Moreover, economic imbalances may constrain trade reform, necessitating prior adjustment (Agénor and Montiel, 1999).

Empirically, most reform programs that began with a depreciation of the real exchange rate and prudent economic policies were more successful and the adjustment costs were much smaller than previously believed (Papageorgiou, and others 1990; Michaely, Papageorgiou, and Choksi, 1991). Moreover, sustained trade reform cannot be achieved without reducing the public sector deficit to a noninflationary level, as evidenced by the slowing or backsliding of liberalization in countries with poor economic performance (Thomas and Nash, 1991). An early announcement and implementation of a trade liberalization program could increase efficiency thus helping to build political support to sustain the reform effort.

On the order of reforms, the literature supports liberalizing the domestic factor markets, particularly the labor market, before liberalizing the commodity markets. Some argue that factor prices play a more important role in resource allocation than output prices, as some factor prices play a significant role in production decisions. The entire price system could become distorted if factor prices do not reflect their true opportunity costs.

There is fairly widespread support for carrying out trade liberalization before capital account liberalization. The commonly cited reasons include higher cost and welfare implications of reverse sequencing. <sup>12</sup> If domestic factor markets and foreign trade are still heavily distorted when the capital account is liberalized, capital could flow into sectors heavily affected by distortions, further increasing inefficiencies in domestic production.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> For the revenue implications of trade reform, see Ebrill, Stotsky, and Gropp, 1999.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> On the links between trade and financial liberalization, see Bhattacharya, 1999.

The speed of reform depends on several factors. First, policymakers must consider the possibility of a temporary output loss due to trade liberalization. If domestic industries are heavily protected, full trade liberalization can lead to large-scale economic disruption and recession. Second, the simultaneous implementation of other required policy changes can create significant adjustment costs, in particular when the economic outlook is heading toward recession. Third, producers' interests may contribute to political pressure for gradual tariff reform, especially when a program of stabilization is needed concurrently with liberalization.

The speed implications associated with reform across sectors often make reference to the likely losses of revenue for many developing countries, as it ultimately involves deep cuts in import and export taxes. Therefore, the speed with which the government can restructure the tax system and broaden its base will be an important consideration in determining the optimal speed of trade reform.

The speed of trade reform is also affected by the willingness of authorities to adjust the exchange rate. Although trade reform makes imports readily available, the export response normally takes longer to materialize. Thus, correcting the real exchange rate misalignment in conjunction with a comprehensive trade reform becomes an imperative. However, a real depreciation may not be viewed as a practical option, because it means a fall in real wages, unless the depreciation is offset by a rise in living standards brought about by reduced protection. Chile, for instance, pursued comprehensive liberalization together with an overvalued managed exchange rate in the 1970s, the result of which was a rapid rise in imports and a subsequent collapse in its exchange rate (Dornbusch, 1992).

# B. Capital Account Liberalization

The liberalization of the capital account of the balance of payments has attracted considerable attention over the past decade, particularly following recent financial crises in several countries. Some experts have attributed these crises, at least in part, to failure to recognize distortions in domestic markets when countries liberalized international capital flows. How then should the authorities proceed with capital account liberalization?

It is widely recognized that the free flow of capital can be beneficial to economic development in economies devoid of distortions. From a theoretical perspective, capital

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> For a more detailed analysis, see Eichengreen and others, 1998 and 1999; Johnston, 1998; and IMF, 2001, Ishii and Habermeier, 2002.

account liberalization can improve welfare, as long as financial markets are efficient and foreign funds are used to support the development process. Foreign capital can reduce the cost of capital and help make capital intermediation more efficient. However, as long as domestic financial markets are mired in distortions, foreign capital can be detrimental to welfare. Most empirical studies find either a positive or a nonsignificant effect from capital account liberalization on economic development. Important channels include positive effects on domestic investment, technology spillover, and domestic financial development (Bekaert, Harvey, and Lundblad, 2001; Edwards, 2001; IMF, 2001; and Quinn, 1997).

Liberalizing the capital account involves the lifting of restrictions on inflows and outflows of foreign direct investment flows and the use of long and short-term financial instruments. The liberalization of long-term capital inflows, in particular foreign direct investment, is often among the first steps taken to open the capital account. Such a step can bring considerable benefits, including transfer of technology and know-how, which may promote more efficient business practices. It may also speed the learning processes of foreign investors and lenders about future profit opportunities in the country. Liberalizing long-term capital flows may thus help smooth the reform processes and facilitate adjustments to post reform incentive structures. Empirical studies tend to confirm that foreign direct investment flows can promote overall investment (Lim, 2001; and World Bank, 2001). Because direct foreign investment flows are more stable than portfolio flows, thus less prone to sudden shifts in investor sentiment, they are less likely to contribute to financial crises.

There is considerable debate on the optimal time to liberalize portfolio flows. In particular, there is concern that the higher volatility of short-term capital flows may increase the country's vulnerability to crises. Long-term portfolio flows may therefore be liberalized before short-term flows. <sup>14</sup> In general, portfolio inflows in debt and equity instruments are more likely to produce positive effects, if domestic financial markets and the financial infrastructure are well developed. A sound institutional environment, including adequate accounting rules, auditing, disclosure practices, and efficient payment systems are key prerequisites for its success (Eichengreen, Mussa, and others, 1999).

In many cases, debt inflows are liberalized before equity inflows because the domestic debt markets tend to develop before domestic equity markets, mirroring their different economic roles. Recent studies indicate that equity market liberalization can also have independent positive effects on private investment and growth. Again, these effects are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> For an analysis of the effectiveness of capital controls in reducing capital inflows and changing the composition of capital flows, see Laurens and Cardoso, 1998, and Ulan, 2000, who analyze the case of Chile in the early 1990s.

more likely to materialize if an appropriate institutional framework is in place (Fuchs-Schündeln and Funke 2001).

Restrictions on outflows may reflect existing macroeconomic imbalances or distortions in the financial sector. In fact, they may be in place in order to maintain existing financial imbalances. For example, restricting outflows can be used to hold interest rates artificially low. In the event of a liberalization that is accompanied by capital outflows, the authorities must be prepared to cope with higher domestic interest rates (Eichengreen, Mussa, and others 1999). Similarly, an outflow may result in a real depreciation of the exchange rate, prompting the authorities to address the underlying imbalances that are supported by that restriction.

The optimal sequence of capital account liberalization is complicated and varies widely depending on initial conditions. Researchers broadly agree that capital account liberalization should come after successful stabilization as the information content of prices tends to be higher in stable environments. High and volatile inflation distorts relative prices and reduces the value of market signals. Liberalization of capital flows in such unstable environments could increase the volatility of capital flows, with adverse economic effects.

Regarding capital account liberalization and trade reform, the initial view argued for trade reform to precede capital account liberalization. McKinnon (1973) focuses on the problem of competing instruments. As noted earlier, current account liberalization may require a real depreciation of the exchange rate to offset the initial negative impact on the balance of payments emanating from reduced protection. In contrast, capital account liberalization may produce a real exchange rate appreciation if liberalization leads to capital inflows. Because the responsiveness of foreign demand for local assets is expected to be faster than the responsiveness of trade flows to the opening of the current account, an unsustainable appreciation of the exchange rate may result. Because goods markets and financial asset markets clear at different speeds, the goods market, which takes much longer to clear, should be liberalized first.

To avoid unnecessary resource shifts, several authors (Edwards, 1990; and Khan and Zahler, 1987) favor opening the current account before the capital account. McKinnon (1982) argues that the experience of the Southern Cone countries shows that Chile's superior performance was due to having kept the capital account closed while tariffs were reduced. He associates Argentina's poor performance with the country's adoption of the opposite sequencing.

In contrast to this view, a number of authors favor a simultaneous liberalization of the current and capital account. In this case, foreign funds that result from capital account liberalization can be used to reduce or offset the short-run costs of trade adjustment (Krueger, 1981 and 1984; and Little and others 1970). There is also an argument in support of the liberalization of the capital account even before the current account. Lal (1987) proposes to open the capital account along with an announcement of a phased trade liberalization. To the extent that the announcement is credible, long-run investment

decisions are determined by relative world market prices instead of distorted domestic market prices.

Reform of domestic financial markets before liberalization of the capital account is generally considered to be critical to the success of reforms (Hanson, 1992; Johnston, 1998; Mathieson and Rojas-Suarez, 1992; and McKinnon, 1991). In a financially closed economy, the domestic banking system often suffers from extensive and severe regulations. Once the capital account is liberalized, excessive domestic regulation could weaken the competitiveness of domestic banks relative to international banks. Johnston (1998) emphasized the importance of developing and strengthening domestic financial institutions, markets, and instruments before opening the capital account. As long as banking supervision is weak, access to foreign funds could increase the vulnerability of the economy. Mathieson and Rojas-Suarez (1992) also underscored the importance of strengthening the safety and soundness of the domestic banking system before liberalizing the capital account.

The appropriate speed of capital account liberalization is dependent on the development of domestic financial markets. Liberalization of the capital account occurred gradually in most industrialized countries (IMF, 2001), whereas in emerging markets the gradual and shock approaches have both been used. If the domestic financial sector is already fully liberalized and has an institutional framework in place to ensure smooth operations, then the capital account can be liberalized immediately. Most developing countries lack such an institutional framework. However, postponing capital account liberalization until domestic financial markets function properly would delay the benefits of access to foreign capital. In such cases, the liberalization of the capital account and the development of the domestic financial framework could go in tandem. However, even though in more advanced emerging markets the domestic framework is generally more developed and capital account liberalization can advance fairly quickly, it can still take an extended period of time to ensure that capital account liberalization does not outpace the corresponding domestic liberalization (Eichengreen, Mussa, and others 1998).

### C. Financial Markets

It is well established that a well-developed financial sector helps promote investment and growth (Khan and Senhadji, 2000). The literature on capital account liberalization has already highlighted the crucial role of a well-functioning financial market. Components of financial sector reform encompass such areas as monetary, exchange, regulatory, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> For a more detailed analysis of financial sector liberalization, see Bisat, Johnston, and Sundararajan (1992); Caprio, Atiyas, and Hanson (1994); Galbis (1994); Harwood and Smith (1997); Johnston (1994); and Johnston and Sundararajan (1999).

structural reforms. More specifically, components of financial sector reform include (Johnston and Sundararajan, 1999):

- Reform of the interest rate regime and monetary operations (for example, liberalizing interest rates, introducing market-based monetary control procedures, and increasing central bank autonomy);
- Development of the banking sector (for example, reforming selective credit regulations, restructuring and recapitalization weak financial institutions, and reforming prudential regulation);
- Development of money and interbank markets (including reform of the clearing, payment, and settlements systems);
- Fostering of competition in financial markets (promoting the institutional development and non-bank financial intermediaries);
- Development of long-term capital markets (including domestic public debt management and government securities markets); and
- Development of foreign exchange markets.

Sequencing strategies must be guided by the objective of improving financial sector efficiency while strengthening financial stability. There is fairly broad agreement that key monetary control reforms should be among the first reforms pursued in financial markets (Johnston, 1994). Countries with repressed financial systems typically face problems because of the ineffectiveness of direct credit and interest rate controls. The introduction of market-based instruments, such as open market operations, improves the effectiveness and efficiency of macroeconomic policies. At the same time, these initiatives not only make possible, but require a freeing of direct controls on credit and interest rates. To compensate for weak institutional capacity of financial markets, monetary policy reform could initially be accompanied by an active use of reserve requirements and refinance facilities.

In the financial sector, reforms typically begin with the banking sector, followed by money markets and capital markets. As long as credit allocation is targeted to favor priority sectors rather than respond to market signals, the banking sector will remain vulnerable and problem loans will accumulate. In such a case, cleaning up of firms' and banks' balance

sheets must be given high priority. At the same time, the banks' incentive system must be changed to stop old lending habits. 16

The introduction of indirect monetary policy instruments can stimulate the development of money markets. But it also requires concurrent reforms to strengthen the structure of these markets, to beef up trading arrangements, and to improve clearing settlement procedures.

The development of capital markets usually occurs at a later stage, because of the far-reaching reforms required to establish a sound institutional framework. Adequate accounting rules, as well as auditing and disclosure practices, strengthen market discipline and increase investors' confidence in domestic capital markets. At the same time, institution building and prudential regulation and supervision are critical to reduce the risk of future financial instability (Johnston, 1994).

An important prerequisite for domestic financial market liberalization in an inflationary environment is to regain control over the fiscal deficit (McKinnon, 1991). The financing of large fiscal deficits by the expansion of the stock of high-powered money contributes to inflationary pressures. The monetary authorities would have to limit the expansion of domestic liquidity by raising successively the reserve requirements of banks and/or engaging in open market operations. This would lead eventually to an unsustainable financial situation.

As noted in the previous section, financial sector reform is also closely linked to the timing of the liberalization of the capital account. As long as the banking system and prudential regulations are still weak, allowing banks to expand their resources through external borrowing can make the banking sector more vulnerable. Financial sector reform should thus precede or accompany capital account liberalization. Most of the countries that avoided a crisis after opening capital flows had a sound financial system in place (IMF, 2001a). Financial market reform must not be seen in isolation, however, but rather in the context of a broader macroeconomic stabilization and reform program.

The early literature on the speed of financial sector reform mostly favored a gradualist approach. However, protracted financial repression, by allowing inefficient mobilization and allocation of financial resources to continue, is associated with high costs. Speed considerations must be guided by finding a balance between the potential benefits and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> For a discussion of bank restructuring, see Dziobek and Pazarbasioglu (1997). The role of foreign banks is analyzed in IMF (2000).

risks associated with financial liberalization.<sup>17</sup> In this regard, several factors are generally considered critical to the speed of financial sector reform (see Johnston, 1994).

First, the initial conditions matter, influencing greatly the approach chosen. The different experiences in Asian and Latin American countries, for example, suggest that countries with high savings rates, such as those in Asia, may find it easier to pursue a gradual approach. In contrast, countries with low saving rates may be forced to move faster, because the urgency to encourage domestic savings is higher. Not only does the official economy matter, but the actual conditions matter as well. In highly regulated financial markets, the incentives to circumvent existing regulations by developing parallel or curb markets are high. In such environments, where the unofficial sector plays an important role, broad-based and rapid changes are not only important for reducing distortions but are also more likely to generate greater benefits as the official sector takes over from the unofficial sector.

Second, the impact of reforms tends to be faster in financial markets than in other reform areas. Therefore, financial reforms may be well suited to signal the authorities' willingness to accept market discipline. Asia's experience suggests that a comprehensive, well-sequenced approach is needed that coordinates the strengthening of prudential supervision, the restructuring of the banking sector, and the liberalization process. Partial liberalization, without supporting banking sector reform, increases the risk of a financial crisis (Johnston and Sundararajan, 1999).

Third, it is important to reach a critical mass of reforms in bank restructuring and prudential supervision and then to progressively improve on these with the development of financial markets and governance of commercial banks. These reforms need to be supplemented by institutional reforms to avoid the pitfalls of liberalization (Khatkhate, 1998). With reforms inevitably taking time, the challenge is to accelerate financial reforms while limiting the potential risk for macroeconomic losses and distortions in resource allocation of poorly sequenced reforms (Johnston and Sundararajan, 1999; Williamson and Mahar, 1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See, more specifically, on the risks of financial liberalization, Wyplosz (2001).

## D. Price Liberalization, Market Reform, and Privatization

Price liberalization, market reform, and privatization are closely linked. When markets are not functioning correctly and private enterprises are inefficient, price liberalization alone will not create the proper incentives.

Price liberalization is essential for the efficient allocation of resources within and across sectors. Without a rational price system, profit and losses alone cannot signal what industries should expand and which ones should shrink. In both transition and developing economies, price liberalization led to a rapid increase in the availability of products.

In addition to price liberalization, private ownership of firms is also key to a properly functioning market economy. Because the simultaneous privatization of all state-owned enterprises is rarely feasible, the optimal sequence of privatization becomes important. Relevant selection criteria can include the choice of specific sectors and the size and profitability of enterprises. The Chinese experience suggests that private initiatives in specific sectors, such as agriculture and services, can produce positive supply effects quickly. The experience of Central and Eastern European countries shows that privatization of small enterprises (small-scale privatization) may be a sensible focus of initial reform for transition economies. Small-scale enterprises are more adaptable, have fewer internal control problems, and have lower capital requirements. Enterprises that need less restructuring may be expected to generate positive employment effects sooner. Privatization of large enterprises may be economically and politically more difficult because the transitional unemployment that can result will raise political opposition, making it difficult to impose hard budget constraints on large companies (Kornai, 1986).

Recent theoretical and cross-country empirical research shows that the sequence of privatization is influenced or even depends on the initial conditions and government objectives (Gupta, Ham, and Svejnar, 2000). Depending on the initial conditions, the authorities' primary objectives may be to increase efficiency, maximize privatization revenues, or both. To enhance efficiency, privatizing inefficient firms first may prove more useful. The success of this strategy, however, will depend on the institutional framework. Efficiency gains occur only if the institutional framework is conducive to fast restructuring and improved enterprise performance. The method of privatization also matters for efficiency gains. The empirical literature indicates that efficiency gains tend to be larger for start-up firms and firms that after privatization are dominated by outsiders, possibly with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Lau, Qian, and Roland (2000) analyze the dual-track approach of continued enforcement of plans while liberalizing specific market segments. For a closer analysis of the Chinese experience, see also World Bank, 2002 (Box 4.1).

foreign involvement. Efficiency gains are less likely if firms continue to be dominated by insiders (Havrylyshyn and McGettigan, 1999). If quick privatization revenues are an objective, it may be reasonable to privatize profitable firms first. However, selling public enterprises requires adequate property rights legislation, agreed on accounting standards, a liberalized market for factors and goods, and a reasonable level of financial market development.

Price liberalization and privatization need to be coordinated with other reforms. Financial sector reform, for example, is critical for improving the supply response to price reforms. Price deregulation can only lead to an efficient allocation of resources when bank lending and other investment and consumer financing decisions are also guided by market principles. Price decontrol can have substantial temporary effects on prices, but in general, it has no lasting adverse effect on inflation (Hernández-Cata, 1999). Thus, price decontrol does not hinder medium-term macroeconomic stabilization, and both are closely linked to successful privatization (Barnett, 2000). With the higher information value of prices in a stable macroeconomic environment, it may be easier to sell companies at their real market value.

In terms of privatization, important reforms should precede or be implemented simultaneously with privatization: institutional reforms, macroeconomic stabilization, and price and market reforms (Ahluwalia, 1996; Fischer and Gelb, 1991). The preconditions for a market economy are necessary—above all, a well-functioning institutional infrastructure that encompasses modern legal and regulatory frameworks and information systems (accounting and auditing), the right to unrestricted acquisition of private property, and the freedom to carry out economic activity protected by a legal system that provides the possibility of sanctions and redress.

The formulation of adequate regulatory frameworks is a key determinant of privatization's success. The Latin American experience demonstrates that countries that put in place a modern regulatory system in advance of privatization (as, for example, Venezuela did when privatizing the national telephone company) are more successful than those that do not (Edwards, 1996). Institutional reforms have to encompass a tax system appropriate to a market economy and should ideally be in place prior to privatization.

Many arguments favor rapid liberalization of prices. In an environment of significant price controls, partial price reforms can promote intertemporal speculation, low supply response, and supply diversion. Moreover, partial reforms promote hoarding in anticipation of further price liberalization. As a result, inventories increase and the net supply of the product actually reaching the market declines. The shortage, in turn, creates rents and attracts lobbyists, who push for the continuation of policies that create rents. Thus, the political pressure against price decontrol mounts, increasing the probability that the government will prematurely abandon partial liberalization. For example, partial price decontrols in Brazil in the mid-1980s led to hoarding by suppliers and shortages in stores, strengthening political opposition against the reforms (Bresser, 1987). Partial liberalization can also lead to multiple price practices. Partial reforms encourage the diversion of essential

inputs away from their traditional uses to enterprises that are not constrained to pay the regulated price and are willing to pay higher prices. Such diversion disrupts production in traditional industries, causing a decline in overall output and welfare.

With rapid liberalization, most of the disadvantages of a gradual approach disappear. Hording incentives decline, and market prices start to guide resource allocations earlier in the reform process. But if other distortions, such as rigidities in labor markets, exist, rapid adjustment could lead to greater misallocation of resources or even increased unemployment.

A number of arguments have been made in favor of rapid privatization (Hinds, 1991; and Lipton and Sachs, 1990). First, rapid privatization is the only way to weed out inefficiencies. The speedy transfer of control of enterprises to private shareholders is viewed as an indispensable condition for efficient management performance. Second, government reform and reorganization of public enterprises before liberalization are technically and politically difficult to coordinate, implement, and sustain. Third, in an economy with massive state intervention, quick privatization may be necessary to form a critical mass of private ownership to avert stalemate or reverses in the entire process. Fourth, support for rapid privatization is also motivated by the financial burden inefficient public enterprises impose on government budgets and the banking system. Without full-scale privatization, stabilization can be burdened by government subsidies for and bailing-out of public enterprises.

Despite these considerations, a number of practical factors limit the government's ability to privatize rapidly. For example, redistribution of the assets of public enterprises is a thorny issue. In several transition economies, the process pitted the general public against workers demanding a distribution plan in their favor. Such disputes paralyze privatization. For instance, the Polish mass privatization program to redistribute public enterprises to the population at large was blocked by a coalition favoring greater redistribution to workers.

Other serious political constraints relate to uncertainty. The restructuring required to move to an incentive-based regime initially increases uncertainty because the improvements in enterprise performance the reforms seek to bring about take time to show themselves. The experience of transition economies—Lithuania, Russia, and Poland—that attempted rapid privatization and restructuring confirms the view that, ex ante, the quick approach had little chance of success because of the major restructuring problems encountered. In many cases, former managers retained control of the privatized enterprises. In the presence of aggregate uncertainty related to restructuring, a well-balanced approach, starting with the restructuring

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Castanheira and Roland (2000) provide a general equilibrium model to analyse the optimal speed of transition from a state-owned enterprises to a private market economy.

of only a subset of enterprises or sectors, may avert radical disruption of output, surge in unemployment, and steep fall in demand (Dewatripont and Roland, 1995).

#### IV. GUIDELINES FOR REFORM

The economic thinking on the speed of adjustment and the sequencing of reform has been changing over time. Early recommendations were largely based on the experience of Latin American countries. More recent analyses have taken into account the experience of transition economies of Central and Eastern Europe and former countries of the Soviet Union, and recent crisis episodes. Overall, the foregoing discussion makes clear that the arguments favoring a gradual or a shock approach are not absolute. Each country has to choose the proper speed of adjustment and sequencing of reforms by examining country-specific factors. This concluding section builds on the previous discussion to provide a checklist of key questions for policymakers in determining the appropriate speed of adjustment and sequencing of reform programs.

- What are the initial conditions? What are the extent of financial disequilibria and the degree of the structural bottlenecks? Other things being equal, the larger the disequilibria and the more severe the structural constraints, the longer it will take to reestablish financial balance and to alleviate bottlenecks. Large initial disequilibria and severe bottlenecks, however, do not necessarily call for a more gradual reform process. The effects of other considerations, as noted below, are also important.
- How much financial resources are available to the country? The availability of financial resources can influence the speed of adjustment in two conflicting ways. On the one hand, if financial resources are scarce and financial imbalances large, the economy will need immediate and fast action, because a gradual process cannot be financed. On the other hand, for example, a country that is already burdened with massive debt may not have the financial resources to quickly implement all necessary structural reforms, thus reducing the speed at which reforms can be introduced.
- What is the country's institutional capacity to formulate and implement policy packages? When institutional capacity is weak, adjustment costs increase and the reform process becomes more difficult. Thus, all other things being equal, the greater the capacity limitations, the slower will be the speed of adjustment.
- What are the political economy considerations? Political economy considerations affect the opportunity for and, thus, the speed of adjustment and reform. Factors that influence the window of opportunity include the time remaining in office before the next election for a democratically elected government, the perceived reform mindedness of the authorities, and the public tolerance to accept the transitional costs before reforms show positive results. If elections are close and short-term adjustment costs high, the government may be reluctant to embark on a far-reaching reform

program. If special interest groups are directly affected, they are likely to campaign vigorously to slow down or stop the reform process. The authorities should always ask themselves what options they have to improve the opportunity for reform. Although some factors, such as reelection time, may be difficult to change, the authorities may be able to improve the environment for reform, for example, by introducing social safety nets.

- How well can the authorities sustain the reform momentum? What can the authorities do to increase the reform momentum? Sustaining the reform momentum can greatly increase the speed with which policy objectives are achieved. The authorities' commitment to reform and their ability to achieve broad public support and to maintain social consensus greatly influence their ability to sustain the momentum of reform. Opposition to reform, either from powerful interest groups or from particularly vulnerable groups adversely affected by the reform program, endangers the entire reform process (Olson, 1982). The more broadly the vision and the details of the reforms are shared with the wider public, the greater are the chances of the reform package's success. In this regard, too, transparency and the communication strategy are important. To enhance transparency, the authorities must make their reform intentions public, clarifying their priorities and the rationale for the sequencing of reform elements. Public support is also enhanced by the government's communication strategy, as the investor relations offices, for example, of Brazil and Mexico show. Similar to public relations programs of multinational companies, these programs help the domestic community and international investors to better understand the specifics of a reform program and economic development in general (Institute of International Finance, 1999). An effective communications strategy is particularly important for countries that are already actively participating in the international flow of capital or countries that are starting to have access to international capital markets.
- How can the authorities increase the credibility of the reform program? The credibility of the authorities is likely to depend largely on their track record. Once credibility is lost, it takes a long time to regain. Although a new government might benefit from a "starter bonus," the government's credibility to pursue reforms may need to be established as its determination has never been tested. When credibility is weak, private agents may fail to respond to the reform measures as expected, resulting in higher adjustment costs. This means that if the authorities lack credibility, a more front-loaded approach may be needed to regain credibility. By contrast, a government with high credibility can generate a positive public response to reforms, even if the reforms are being introduced gradually. Thus, the authorities must always review the manner in which they attempt to raise the credibility of their efforts by putting in place a consistent and realistic program. For example, the authorities can enhance the credibility of a program by enacting new laws or introducing institutional changes, or by making commitments in the context of programs or projects supported by international financial institutions.

- How ambitious are the reform objectives in terms of quality and quantity? Reform objectives may be of a qualitative or a quantitative nature. Qualitative reform objectives refer to such changes as the transformation of an economy from a centrally planned to a market economy or to improvements in health and education services. Quantitative objectives refer to specific targets for macroeconomic or structural variables, such as budget deficits in percent of GDP or number of students per teacher. Both the scope and the quantitative targets of reforms affect the speed with which reform objectives can be attained. There is always tension between politically motivated reform promises and realistic reform objectives. However, to increase the chances of success, the authorities need to specify reform priorities and be realistic in terms of what is achievable over a specific time.
- What are the policy options? The same overall reform objectives can be achieved through different sets of policies, with different adjustment costs and distributional effects. For example, in a fixed exchange rate environment, external adjustment may be envisaged either through a devaluation of the exchange rate and supporting policies or solely through restrictive fiscal and monetary policies. Depending on the structural rigidities in the economy, restrictive fiscal and monetary policy can result in higher short-term adjustment costs, particularly in terms of output, but also lower inflationary pressures than the first option. This example highlights the importance of comparing options and identifying trade-offs. The careful and public consideration of alternative policy options can enhance program ownership, as the debate on the alternative options can help to create a common understanding among the authorities, the general public, and the international community on the most appropriate policy package for the economy with a generally agreed upon speed.
- What are the contingency provisions needed to address potential reform slippages or unforeseen shocks? Contingency provisions relate to specific actions to be taken if the expected results of certain measures are not realized. For example, if the revenue effects of certain tax measures are not fully realized, the contingency provisions may provide for a cutback in specific expenditures. If no specific contingency provision is included, the program may provide for a mechanism, such as a policy committee, to decide on the policy response. In the case of an external shock, for example, the response will depend on the likely nature of the shock, distinguishing between demand or supply shocks, transitory or permanent shocks, and the size of the shock. To the extent that adequate contingency provisions or mechanisms are in place, the policy response to events that could adversely affect the adjustment and reform effort would be speeded up resulting in the achievement of the objectives in a faster time frame.

While the consideration of the above questions can help policymakers in determining mainly the speed of the adjustment and reform process, four key factors can guide policymakers in their sequencing decisions:

- Preparatory time: The time needed to prepare and implement different reforms can
  vary substantially. For example, the introduction of a value-added tax requires the
  formulation and approval of the requisite legislation, the build-up of the
  administrative infrastructure, and the establishment of the appropriate infrastructure
  to transfer payments. It would thus be unrealistic to try to implement a value-added
  tax without giving adequate weight to the time required for sequencing all of the
  preparatory steps.
- Prerequisites: Specific reforms are often prerequisites for other reforms. Certain institutional reforms are necessary before other reforms can be implemented, and some progress in stabilization may be necessary before pursuing other reforms. For example, the lifting of a government monopoly in the import and distribution of certain products will first require the liberalization of import procedures and price controls to remove distortions. Similarly before opening the capital account, the financial sector must be strengthened. Financial stabilization is also a fundamental prerequisite for other reforms.
- Complementarities: The understanding of reform complementarities is critical in determining appropriate sequencing. For example, there can be a complementarity among fiscal policy, trade liberalization, and public enterprise reform. Efforts to reduce the budget deficit can be facilitated by replacing quantitative trade restrictions with tariffs, by receipts from the privatization of public enterprises, and by reducing subsidies to unprofitable public enterprises. The same applies to the introduction of a social safety net to address the transitional employment and distribution effects of the adjustment process and specific reforms.
- Conflicting instruments: Sequencing must take into account the potential conflict between different policy instruments. For example, trade liberalization may need to be supported by a real exchange rate depreciation, whereas capital account liberalization can result in a real exchange rate appreciation.

In conclusion, speed and sequencing considerations are closely linked. The optimal speed and sequence is country specific. The checklist outlined above should help policymakers evaluate the different policy elements in a comprehensive package to determine how best to sequence reforms and at what speed to proceed.

## REFERENCES

- Agénor, P.R., and P. J. Montiel, 1999, *Development Macroeconomics* (Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press).
- Ahluwalia, M. S., 1996, "Structural Adjustment and Reform in Developing Countries," in *The International Monetary and Financial System: Developing Country Perspectives*, ed. by G.K. Helleiner (New York: Macmillan Press), pp. 193–228.
- Barnett, Steven, 2000, "Evidence on the Fiscal and Macroeconomic Impact of Privatization," IMF Working Paper 00/130 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bekaert, Geert, Campbell R. Harvey, and Christian Lundblad, 2001, "Does Financial Liberalization Spur Growth?" NBER Working Paper No. 8245 (Cambridge, Massachusetts: National Bureau of Economic Research).
- Bhattacharya, A., 1997, "Pace, Sequencing and Credibility of Structural Reform," World Development, Vol. 25, No. 7, pp. 1045-61.
- \_\_\_\_\_\_, 1999, "Political Economy Aspects of Trade and Financial Liberalization: Implications for Sequencing," IMF Working Paper 99/159 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bikhchandani, Sushil, and Sunil Sharma, 2001, "Herd Behavior in Financial Markets," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 47, No. 3, pp. 279–310.
- Bisat, Amer, R. Barry Johnston, and V. Sundararajan, 1992, "Issues in Managing and Sequencing Financial Sector Reforms: Lessons from Experiences in Five Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 92/82 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bresser, T., 1987, "Inflation and the Cruzado Plan," World Development, Vol. 15, pp. 1035–44.
- Bruno, M., 1992, "Stabilization and Reform in Eastern Europe: A Preliminary Evaluation," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 39 No. 4, pp. 741–77.
- Buch, Claudia-Maria, 1992, "External Financial Liberalization in Eastern Europe: Lessons from the Southern Cone," Kiel Institute of World Economics Advanced Studies Working Paper No. 233 (Kiel: Kiel Institute of World Economics Advanced Studies).

- Caprio, Gerard, Izak Atiyas, and James Hanson (ed.), 1994, Financial Reform—Theory and Experience (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).
- Castanheira, Micael, and Gérard Roland, 2000, "The Optimal Speed of Transition: A General Equilibrium Analysis," *International Economic Review*, Vol. 41, No. 1 (February), pp. 219–39.
- Collier, Paul, and Jan Willem Gunning, 1999, "The IMF's Role in Structural Adjustment," *Economic Journal*, Vol. 109 (November).
- Corbo Vittorio, and Jaime de Melo, 1987, "Lessons from the Southern Cone Policy Reforms," *The World Research Observer*, Vol. 2, pp. 111–42.
- Corden, W. Max, 1987, "Protection and Liberalization: A Review of Analytical Issues," IMF Occasional Paper No. 54 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Cukierman, Alex, and Mariano Tommasi, 1998, "Credibility of Policymakers and of Economic Reforms," *The Political Economy of Reform*, pp. 329–347.
- Dewatripont, Mathias, and Gerard Roland, 1992, "Virtues of Gradualism and Legitimacy in Transition to a Market Economy," *Economic Journal*, Volume 102, pp. 291–300.
- ———, 1995, "The Design of Reform Packages Under Uncertainty," *American Economic Review*, Vol. 85 (December), pp. 1208–23.
- Dollar, David, 1992, "Outward Oriented Developing Economies Really Do Grow More Rapidly: Evidence from 95 LDCs, 1976–85," *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, pp. 523–544.
- Dornbusch, Rudiger, 1991, "Credibility and Stabilization," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. 106 (August), pp. 837–850.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1992, "The Case for Trade Liberalization in Developing Countries," *Journal of Economic Perspective*, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 69–85.
- Drazen, Allan, 2000, *Political Economy in Macroeconomics* (Princeton: Princeton University Press).
- Dziobek, Claudia, and Ceyla Pazarbasioglu, 1997, "Lessons from Systemic Bank Restructuring: A Survey of 24 Countries," IMF Working Paper 97/161 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

Ebrill, Liam, Janet Stotsky, and Reint Gropp, 1999, "Revenue Implications of Trade Liberalization," IMF Occasional Paper No. 180 (Washington: International Monetary Fund). Edwards, Sebastian, 1984, "The Order of Liberalization of the External Sector in Developing Countries," Essays in International Finance, No. 156 (December). , 1990, "The Sequencing of Economic Reform: Analytical Issues and Lessons from Latin American Experiences," World Economy, Vol. 13, pp. 1-14. ,1996, "A Tale of Two Crises: Chile and Mexico," NBER Working Paper Series No. 5794 (Cambridge, Massachusetts: National Bureau of Economic Research). , 2001, "Capital Mobility and Economic Performance: Are Emerging Economies Different?" NBER Working Paper Series No. 8076 (Cambridge, Massachusetts: National Bureau of Economic Research). Eichengreen, Barry, Michael Mussa, and others 1999, "Liberalizing Capital Movements," Economic Issues (Washington: International Monetary Fund). , 1998, "Capital Account Liberalization: Theoretical and Practical Aspects," IMF Occasional Paper No. 172, pp. 1–27 (Washington: International Monetary Fund). Erbas, S. Nuri, 2002, "Primer on Reforms in a Second-Best Ambiguous Environment: A Case for Gradualism," IMF Working Paper WP/02/50 (Washington: International Monetary Fund). Falvey, R., and C.D. Kim, 1992, "Timing and Sequencing Issues in Trade Liberalization." Economic Journal, Vol. 102, pp. 908-24. Feltenstein, Andrew, and Saleh M. Nsouli, 2001, "Big Bang' versus Gradualism in Economic Reforms: an Intertemporal Analysis with an Application to China," IMF Working Paper 01/98, (Washington: International Monetary Fund). Fischer, Stanley, and Alan Gelb, 1991, "The Process of Socialist Economic Transformation," Journal of Economic Perspectives, Vol. 5, No. 4 (Fall), pp. 91-106. , and Ratna Sahay, 2000, "The Transition Economies After Ten Years," NBER Working Paper Series No. 7664 (Cambridge, Massachusetts: National Bureau of Economic Research).

- Frenkel, J.A., 1982, "The Order of Economic Liberalization: A Comment," in *Economic Policy in a World of Change*, ed. by K. Brunner and A.H. Meltzer (Amsterdam: North Holland).
- Fuchs-Schündeln, Nicola, and Norbert Funke, 2001, "Stock Market Liberalizations: Financial and Macroeconomic Implications," IMF Working Paper 01/193 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Fukushima, Takashi and Namdoo Kim, 1989, "Welfare Improving Tariff Changes: A Case of Many Goods and Countries," *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 26, No. 3/4 (May), pp. 383–88.
- Fundación de Investigaciones Económicas Latinoamericanas (FIEL), 1990, *Hacía una Económia de Mercado* (Buenos Aires: Manantial).
- Funke, Norbert, 1993, "Timing and Sequencing of Reforms: Competing Views and the Role of Credibility," *Kyklos*, Vol. 46, pp. 337–62.
- Galbis, Vicente, 1994, "Sequencing of Financial Sector Reforms: A Review," IMF Working Paper 94/101 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gelb, Alan H., and Cheryl W. Gray, 1991, "The Transformation of Economies in Central and Eastern Europe: Issues, Progress and Prospects," World Bank Policy and Research Series No. 17 (Washington: World Bank).
- Gupta, Nandini, John C. Ham, and Jan Svejnar, 2000, "Priorities and Sequencing in Privatization: Theory and Evidence from the Czech Republic," William Davidson Institute Working papers 323 (Michigan: William Davidson Institute).
- Hanson, James A., 1992, "Opening the Capital Account: A Survey of Issues and Results," World Bank Working Papers, WPS 901 (Washington: World Bank).
- Harwood, Alison, and Bruce L.R. Smith (ed.), 1997, Sequencing? Financial Strategies for Developing Countries (Washington: Brookings Institution Press).
- Havrylyshyn, Oleh, and Donal McGettigan, 1999, "Privatization in Transition Countries: Lessons of the First Decade," *Economic Issues*, No. 18 (August) (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- \_\_\_\_\_, and Saleh Nsouli, 2001, "A Decade of Transition: Achievements and Challenges," Washington, International Monetary Fund.
- Hernández-Catá, Ernesto, 1999, "Price Liberalization, Money Growth, and Inflation During the Transition to a Market Economy," IMF Working Paper 99/76 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Hiemenz, Ulrich, Peter Nunnenkamp, and others 1992, "The International Competitiveness of Developing Countries for Risk Capital," *Kieler Studien*, Vol. 242.
- Hinds, Michael, 1991, "Issues in the Introduction of Market Forces in Eastern European Socialist Economies," in *Managing Inflation in Socialist Economies in Transition*, ed. by Simon Commander, pp. 121–54 (Washington: World Bank).
- Institute of International Finance, Inc., 1999, "Creating an Investor Relations Office: A Step Toward Implementing a Proactive Strategy of Investor Relations" (August) (Washington).
- International Monetary Fund, 2000, "The Role of Foreign Banks in Emerging Markets," International Capital Markets—Developments, Prospects and Key Policy Issues, World Economic and Financial Surveys (September) Chapter 6, pp. 152–82 (Washington).
- Ishii, Shogo, and Karl Habermeier, 2002, "Capital Account Liberalization and Financial Sector Stability," IMF Occasional Paper No. 211 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Johnston, Barry R., 1994, "The Speed of Financial Sector Reform: Risks and Strategies," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 94/26 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 1998, "Sequencing Capital Account Liberalizations and Financial Sector Reform," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 98/8 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- \_\_\_\_\_\_, and V. Sundararajan (ed.), 1999, Sequencing Financial Sector Reforms: Country Experiences and Issues (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Khan, Mohsin S., and Roberto Zahler, 1987, "The Liberalization of Trade and Capital Flows in Developing Countries: Some Theoretical and Empirical Issues," in *Economic Reform and Stabilization in Latin America*, ed. by M. Connolly, and C. Gonzalez-Vega (New York: Praeger).
- \_\_\_\_\_, and Abdelhak Senhadji, 2000, "Financial Development and Economic Growth—An Overview," IMF Working Paper 00/209 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Khatkhate, Deena, 1998, *Timing and Sequencing of Financial Sector Reforms: Evidence and Rationale*, SEACEN Research and Training Center Occasional Paper No. 21 (Kuala Lumpur: The South East Asian Central Banks (SEACEN) Research and Training Center).
- Kornai, János, 1986, The Economics of Shortage (Amsterdam: North Holland).
- Krueger, Anne, O., 1981, "Interactions Between Inflation and Trade-Regime Objectives in Stabilization Programs," in *Economic Stabilization in Developing Countries*, ed. by William R. Cline, and Sidney Weintraub, pp. 83–117 (Washington: The Brookings Institution).
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1984, "Problems of Liberalization," in *World Economic Growth*, ed. by Arnold C. Harberger, pp. 403–23 (San Francisco: ICS Press).
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1996, The Political Economy of Trade Protection (Chicago: University of Chicago Press).
- Lal, Deepak, 1987, *The Political Economy of Economic Liberalization*, World Bank Economic Review, Vol. 1, No. 2, pp. 273–299.
- \_\_\_\_\_, and Richard M. Snape, 2001, Trade Development, and Political Economy: Essays in Honor of Anne O. Krueger (New York: Palgrave).
- Lau, Lawrence J., Yingyi Qian, and Gérard Roland, 2000, "Reform Without Losers: An Interpretation of China's Dual-Track Approach to Transition," *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 108, No. 1 (February), pp.120–43.
- Laurens, Bernard and Jaime Cardoso, 1998, "Managing Capital Flows: Lessons from the Experience of Chile," IMF Working Paper WP/98/168 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Lian, Peng, and Shang-Jin Wei, 1998, "To Shock or Not to Shock? Economics and Political Economy of Large Scale Reforms," *Economics and Politics*, Volume 9 (2), pp. 115–131.
- Lim, Ewe-Ghee, 2001, "Determinants of, and the Relation Between, Foreign Direct Investment and Growth: A Summary of the Recent Literature," IMF Working Paper 01/175 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Lipton, David, and Jeffrey Sachs, 1990, "Creating a Market Economy in Eastern Europe: The Case of Poland," *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, Vol. 1, pp. 75–133.
- Little, I., T. Scitovsky, and M. Scott, 1970, *Industry and Trade in Some Developing Countries: A Comparative Study* (London: Oxford University Press).

- Lora, Eduardo, 1998, "What Makes Reforms Likely? Timing and Sequencing of Structural Reforms in Latin America," Inter-American Development Bank Research Department Working Paper No. 424 (Washington: Inter-American Development Bank).
- Martinelli, Cesar, and Mariano Tommasi, 1997, "Sequencing of Economic Reforms in the Presence of Political Constraints," *Economics and Politics*, Volume 9 (2), pp. 115–131.
- Mathieson, D. J., and L. Rojas Suarez, 1992, "Liberalization of the Capital Account: Experiences and Issues," IMF Working Paper 92/46 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- McKinnon, Ronald. I., 1973, *Money and Capital in Economic Development* (Washington: Brookings Institution).
- \_\_\_\_\_\_, 1982, "The Order of Economic Liberalization: Lessons from Chile and Argentina," in *Economic Policy in a World of Change*, ed. by K. Brunner, and A.H. Meltzer, pp. 159–86 (Amsterdam, North Holland).
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1991, The Order of Economic Liberalization (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press).
- Mehlum, Halvor, 2001, "Speed of Adjustment and Self-Fulfilling Failure of Economic Reform," *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 53, pp. 149–67.
- Michaely, M., D. Papageorgiou, and A.M. Choksi, 1991, Liberalizing Foreign Trade: Lessons of Experience in the Developing World (Oxford: Basil Blackwell).
- Murphy, Kevin, Andrei Shleifer, and Robert Vishny, 1992, "The Transition to a Market Economy: Pitfalls of Partial Reform," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. 107, No. 3 (August), pp. 889–906.
- Mussa, Michael, 1984, "The Adjustment Process and the Timing of Trade Liberalization," NBER Working Paper Series No. 1458 (Cambridge, Massachusetts: National Bureau of Economic Research).
- Nsouli, Saleh, 1996, "Current Account Convertibility: Anachronism or Transition?" *Currency Convertibility in the Middle East and in North Africa*, ed. by Manuel Guitián, and Saleh M. Nsouli (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Nuti, Domenico M., 1991, "Stabilization and Sequencing in the Reform of Socialist Economies," in *Managing Inflation In Socialist Economies in Transition*, ed. by Simmon Commander (Washington: World Bank).

- Olson, Mancur, 1982, The Rise and Decline of Nations, Economic Growth, Stagflation and Social Rigidities (New Haven and London: Yale University Press).
- Papageorgiou, Demetris, M. Michaely, A. Choksi, 1986, "The Phasing of a Trade Liberalization Policy: Preliminary Evidence," CPD Discussion Paper No. 1986–42, Country Policy Department (Washington: World Bank).
- Quinn, Dennis, 1997, "The Correlates of Change in International Financial Regulation," *American Political Science Review*, Vol. 91 (September), pp. 531–51.
- Rodriguez, Francisco and Dani Rodrik, 2000, "Trade Policy and Economic Growth: A Skeptic's Guide to the Cross-National Evidence," <a href="http://ksghome.harvard.edu/~.drodrik.academic.ksg/papers.html">http://ksghome.harvard.edu/~.drodrik.academic.ksg/papers.html</a>.
- Rodrik, Dani, 1987, "Trade and Capital-Account Liberalization in a Keynesian Economy," *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 23 (August), pp. 113–129.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1989, "Credibility of Trade Reform—A Policy Maker's Guide," *The World Economy*, Vol. 12, No. 1, pp. 1–16.
- \_\_\_\_\_\_, 1992, "The Limits of Trade Policy Reform in Developing Countries," *Journal of Economic Perspectives* (Winter), pp. 87–105.
- Roland, Gérard, 1991, "Political Economy of Sequencing Tactics in the Transition Period," in *Systemic Change and Stabilization in Eastern Europe*, ed. by Laszlo Csaba, pp. 47–64 (Dartmouth, United Kingdom: Aldershot).
- Rybczynski, Tad M., 1991, "The Sequencing of Reform," Oxford Review of Economic Papers, Vol. 7, No. 4, pp. 26–34.
- Sachs, Jeffrey D., 1987, "Trade and Exchange Rate Policies in Growth-Oriented Adjustment Programs," in Growth-Oriented Adjustment Program, ed. by V. Corbo,
  M. Goldstein, and M.S. Khan, pp. 291–325 (Washington: International Monetary Fund, World Bank).
- ——, and Andrew Warner, 1995, "Economic Reform and the Process of Global Integration," *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, pp. 1–118.
- Schweickert, Rainer, 1993, "Alternative Strategies for Real Devaluation and the Sequencing of Reforms in Developing Countries, *Kyklos*, Vol. 46, pp. 65–85.
- Sharer, Robert, and others 1998, *Trade Liberalization in IMF-Supported Programs*, World Economic and Financial Surveys, Chapters IV and V (February) (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Shleifer, Andrei, and Daniel Treismann, 2000, Without a Map: Political Tactics and Economic Reform in Russia (Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Press).
- Siebert, Horst, 1991, "The Transformation of Eastern Europe," Kiel Institute of World Economics Discussion Papers, No. 163 (Kiel: Kiel Institute of World Economics).
- Thomas, V., and J. Nash, 1991, "Reform of Trade Policy: Recent Evidence from Theory and Practice," The World Bank Research Observer, Vol. 6 (July), pp. 219–40.
- Ulan, Mike, 2000, "Review Essay: Is a Chilean-Style Tax on Short-Term Capital Inflows Stabilizing," *Open Economies Review*, Vol. 11, pp. 149–177.
- van Wijnbergen, Sweder, 1991, "Should Price Reform Proceed Gradually or in a 'Big Bang?" Policy, Research, and External Affairs Working Paper No. 702 (Washington: World Bank).
- Williamson, John, and Molly Mahar, 1998, "A Survey of Financial Liberalization," *Essays in International Finance*, No. 211, Department of Economics, Princeton University, New Jersey (November).
- Wolf, M., 1986, "Timing and Sequencing of Trade Liberalization in Developing Countries," *Asian Development Review*, Vol. 4, pp. 1–24.
- World Bank, 2001, Global Development Finance (Washington).
- \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2002, Transition: The First Ten Years—Analysis and Lessons for Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union (Washington).
- Wyplosz, Charles, 2001, "How Risky is Financial Liberalization in the Developing Countries?" G-24 Discussion Paper Series No. 14 (September) United Nations Conference on Trade and Development.